

Assessment of Barriers to Fair Access

Final Report

November 3, 2023

Institute for Clinical and Economic Review

AUTHORS: Steven D. Pearson, MD, MSc President Institute for Clinical and Economic Review

Grace Lin, MD Medical Director for Health Technology Assessment Institute for Clinical and Economic Review

Matt Seidner, BS Director of Policy Implementation Institute for Clinical and Economic Review

Belén Herce-Hagiwara, BA Senior Research Assistant Institute for Clinical and Economic Review

Serina Herron-Smith, BA Former Associate Research Manager Institute for Clinical and Economic Review

Max Lee, PharmD Pharmaceutical Intelligence Manager Institute for Clinical and Economic Review

Meaghan Cummings, MBA Special Assistant to the President Institute for Clinical and Economic Review

Marina Richardson, PhD, MSc Senior Health Economist Institute for Clinical and Economic Review

Catherine Koola, MPH Director, Patient Engagement Institute for Clinical and Economic Review

Sarah K. Emond, MPP President-Elect Institute for Clinical and Economic Review

DATE OF PUBLICATION: November 3, 2023

How to cite this document: Pearson SD, Lin G, Seidner M, Herce-Hagiwara B, Herron-Smith S, Lee M, Cummings M, Richardson M, Koola C, Emond SK. Assessment of Barriers to Fair Access. Institute for Clinical and Economic Review, November 3, 2023. <u>https://icer.org/policy-papers/fair-access-coverage-policies-in-2023/</u>

About ICER

The Institute for Clinical and Economic Review (ICER) is an independent non-profit research organization that evaluates medical evidence and convenes public deliberative bodies to help stakeholders interpret and apply evidence to improve patient outcomes and control costs. Through all its work, ICER seeks to help create a future in which collaborative efforts to move evidence into action provide the foundation for a more effective, efficient, and just health care system. More information about ICER is available at <u>https://icer.org/</u>.

Supported in part by the Commonwealth Fund, a national, private foundation based in New York City that supports independent research on health care issues and makes grants to improve health care practice and policy. The views presented here are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the Commonwealth Fund, its directors, officers, or staff. For more information on ICER's overall financial support, please visit <u>https://icer.org/who-we-are/independent-funding/</u>

Table of Contents

Table of Contents	iii
List of Acronyms and Abbreviations Used in this Report	iv
Executive Summary	ES1
1. Introduction	1
2. Drugs and Formularies to be Assessed	4
3. Fair Access Criteria	8
4. Results	. 16
Concordance by Fair Access Criterion	. 16
Concordance by Drug	. 20
Concordance by Formulary	. 22
Concordance by Formulary Type, Size and Location	. 24
Concordance by Condition	. 25
Exploratory Transparency Analyses	. 26
Changes to Payer Coverage Policies After Draft Analysis	. 29
5. Input from Patient Groups	. 30
6. Discussion	. 33
7. Conclusion	. 37
References	. 38

List of Acronyms and Abbreviations Used in this Report

AAN	Alloray 8. Acthma Natwork
BCBS	Allergy & Asthma Network Blue Cross Blue Shield
BSA	Body surface area
CA	California
СОТ	Continuation of Therapy
CSC	Cancer Support Community
evLYG	Equal value of life years gained
FDA	U.S. Food and Drug Administration
FL	Florida
FSS	Federal Supply Schedule
HCMA	Hypertrophic Cardiomyopathy Association
HCM	Hypertrophic Cardiomyopathy
HCSC	Health Care Service Corporation
ніх	Health Insurance Exchange
ICER	Institute for Clinical and Economic Review
IL	Illinois
MA	Massachusetts
MI	Michigan
NEA	National Eczema Association
NJ	New Jersey
OOP	Out-of-pocket
PBM	Pharmacy benefit manager
PhRMA	Pharmaceutical Research and Manufacturers of America
QALY	Quality-adjusted life year
QOL	Quality of life
US	United States
UT	Utah
VA	Virginia
VHA	Veterans Health Administration

Executive Summary

The national debate about drug pricing has largely focused on methods to determine whether the price of drugs are "fair" or "reasonable." A question far less examined is how to determine whether insurance coverage is providing fair access to drugs, whether they are fairly priced or not. To help address these questions, ICER worked with a broad set of stakeholders to develop a set of appropriateness criteria for pharmaceutical insurance coverage, as described in our 2020 white paper, <u>Cornerstones of "Fair" Drug Coverage: Appropriate Cost-Sharing and Utilization</u> Management Policies for Pharmaceuticals.

In this paper, we apply several key criteria from that white paper to the real-world coverage policies for 18 drugs reviewed by ICER in 2021: Benlysta and Lupkynis for lupus nephritis; Leqvio, Nexletol, and Nexlizet for high cholesterol; Abecma and Carvykti for multiple myeloma; Adbry, Cibinqo, Opzelura, and Rinvoq for atopic dermatitis; Camzyos for hypertrophic cardiomyopathy; Cinryze, Haegarda, and Tahkzyro for hereditary angioedema; Tezspire for asthma; Soliris and Vyvgart for myasthenia gravis. ICER has elected not to include aducanumab (Aduhelm[™], Biogen) for the treatment of Alzheimer's in this assessment, as its supporting evidence base is so uncertain that determining whether fair access criteria should apply is not clear.

We assessed coverage policies for the selected drugs across 19 formularies, including the largest and smallest formularies by number of covered lives offered by the five largest commercial payers in the United States (US) the single formulary of the Veterans Health Administration (VHA), and the largest and smallest state health exchange plan formularies offered in the four geographic regions of the US (Northeast, Midwest, South, West). At the time we conducted our research, these formularies represented coverage policies governing pharmaceutical access for approximately 42 million Americans. We asked each payer to provide detailed coverage policy information to us, and if needed we supplemented payer submissions with information from the <u>MMIT Analytics</u> Market Access Database.

We rated the concordance of coverage policies against specific requirements of ICER's fair access criteria in four areas: 1) cost sharing to patients, with a single criterion requiring that fairly priced drugs or an equivalent option be placed on the lowest relevant tier of the formulary; 2) clinical eligibility, with criteria requiring that coverage for fairly priced drugs not be narrowed from the FDA label except to use clinical trial inclusion/exclusion criteria or clinical guidelines to define vague terms such as "moderate" or "severe;" 3) step therapy policies, requiring that each step meet standards for clinical appropriateness without a risk for irremediable harm to patients; and 4) provider qualification restrictions, where fair access requires that there be specific risk for misuse that merits restrictions to specialized prescribers. We also conducted exploratory analyses of whether, for each formulary, payers provide individuals shopping for health insurance sufficient

transparency into cost-sharing and tiering structure, clinical eligibility criteria, copay adjustment programs (e.g., copay accumulators and maximizers), and continuation of coverage policies. These exploratory analyses were conducted looking for information on the drugs Nexletol, Rinvoq, and Vyvgart.

Our analysis found that the rate of concordance for cost sharing was 62%, however it should be noted that this analysis applies only to the two drugs, Benlysta and Nexlizet, that were found to be fairly priced. Concordance was 99% for clinical eligibility criteria, 99% for step therapy, and 100% for provider restrictions. In part because of the very high concordance rates, we found no differences in concordance by size of formulary, whether in the private market or in state health exchange plans.

In the exploratory analyses of transparency of information for prospective plan members, all plans made cost-sharing and tiering information available to prospective members and clinical criteria for the three drugs selected were judged to be transparent between 70%-93% of formularies. Only 57% of formularies disclosed whether it participates in a copay adjustment program, and plans' presentation of information regarding potential continuation of coverage received the lowest scores, with adequate transparency in only 36% to 64% of all formularies.

Payers were given several weeks to provide comments on a draft of this assessment. As part of their feedback, one payer informed us that they had revised their coverage policy for Abecma in a way that would bring it into concordance with our fair access criteria.

There are several important limitations to these findings. First, we were unable to assess many important fair access criteria, including whether patient cost sharing is based on the plan's negotiated price for a drug rather than the drug's list price. Formulary tier placement is an imperfect analogue for cost sharing since specific cost sharing amounts and the choice of co-pay versus co-insurance are decided by the plan sponsor and not the payer. We were also unable to assess whether payers administered their policies (e.g., the process for requesting exceptions to medical coverage criteria) in line with our fair access criteria.

While the evidence available and the limitations of our research effort leave many questions, our results demonstrate that the majority of payer policies in the formularies evaluated are structured in a way to support many key elements of fair access. Concordance with our criteria for fair cost sharing was lowest at 62% across all formularies, but this analysis was limited by there being only two drugs whose net prices were found to meet cost-effectiveness standards, thereby making them eligible for fair access criteria evaluation. New to this year's assessment of fair access were our analyses of the transparency of coverage information that prospective members would find important in judging whether and how their current prescriptions would be covered. We found that many plans had inadequate information for prospective members, and even when it was available it was often placed on the provider portion of payer websites, raising the question of

whether prospective plan members would be able to find it. Similarly, information about the presence or absence of copay adjustment programs was often lacking. Health plans should take action to make this information more accessible to all prospective plan members as part of a general commitment to transparency and equity.

The final section of our assessment presents input received from patient organizations regarding barriers to fair access that their members are experiencing. Although it is anecdotal or relies on non-systematic surveys, this input supports findings from academic and professional society surveys demonstrating significant frustration with prior authorization and other features of insurance coverage, often to the point of creating significant delays in access to care. We acknowledge that our assessment cannot capture these procedures, and that even insurance coverage designed appropriately on paper can be administered with labyrinthine documentation procedures and other features that create important barriers to fair access.

This report therefore can have no simple conclusion on the degree of fair access to medications across the drugs and payers evaluated. Instead, we hope it will serve to foster further collaborative efforts to define the parameters of fair access and to work to elevate these ideals as a pillar of a just health care system.

1. Introduction

The national debate about drug pricing has focused attention on methods to determine whether the price of a drug is "fair" or "reasonable." A question far less examined is how to determine whether insurance coverage is providing fair access to that drug. It is widely agreed that cost sharing and drug coverage criteria serve everyone's interest when they steer patients toward evidence-based use of treatments that achieve equal or better outcomes at lower costs. But this level of conceptual agreement does little to help advance thinking on how to assess and judge specific cost-sharing provisions and prior authorization protocols. Is it fair to have patients pay at the highest cost-sharing level when there is only a single drug available in a drug class? What are the circumstances under which step therapy is a reasonable approach? When is it appropriate for the clinical criteria for coverage to be narrower than the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) labeled indication? And how should whether a drug is priced reasonably or not affect judgments of the appropriateness of certain strategies to manage its utilization?

To help address these questions, ICER has developed a set of appropriateness criteria for pharmaceutical insurance coverage, as described in our 2020 white paper, <u>Cornerstones of "Fair"</u> <u>Drug Coverage: Appropriate Cost-Sharing and Utilization Management Policies for Pharmaceuticals</u>. Readers of this current assessment are encouraged to read the earlier white paper to understand the broader ethical analysis and stakeholder input that were the foundation for these appropriateness criteria. This process featured a December 2019 <u>ICER Policy Summit</u> attended by representatives from patient groups, clinical specialty societies, private payers, and the life sciences industry.

The goal of this larger initiative from the outset has been for the "Fair Access" criteria to serve as a tool for assessment and as the starting point for dialogue and action to achieve fair access. In 2021, ICER applied a subset of the criteria to the coverage policies of leading commercial payers in our first <u>Barriers to Fair Access Assessment</u>. We produced another Fair Access Assessment in 2022 and intend to continue these reports on an annual basis. Based on our experience with our first reports, and with ongoing input from our multi-stakeholder Working Group, we have modified our methods for the 2023 report to expand the set of payer formularies evaluated within both the commercial and health exchange markets. We have also added analyses of new elements related to the transparency of coverage criteria for prospective enrollees.

These updates leave the basic approach largely consistent with that of the 2022 report. We asked each payer with formularies included in the scope to provide coverage policy information to us; we leveraged the <u>MMIT Analytics</u> Market Access Database to locate any policies not provided by payers. This year we are assessing coverage for the 18 drugs reviewed by ICER in 2021 and that are currently FDA approved for an indication consistent with the ICER review. Several drugs reviewed by ICER in 2021 were not approved by the FDA (roxadustat [AstraZeneca and FibroGen, Inc.] for

anemia in chronic kidney disease and baricitinib (Olumiant[®], Eli Lilly, Incyte Corporation] for atopic dermatitis) or were withdrawn from the market (belantamab mafodotin [Blenrep[™]], GlaxoSmithKline for multiple myeloma) and were not included in this assessment. In addition, ICER has elected not to include aducanumab (Aduhelm[™], Biogen) for the treatment of Alzheimer's in the assessment, as its supporting evidence base is so uncertain that determining whether fair access criteria should apply at all is not clear.

We assessed coverage policies for the selected drugs across 19 formularies, including the largest and smallest formularies by number of covered lives offered by the five largest commercial payers in the US, the single formulary of the Veterans Health Administration (VHA), and the largest and smallest state health exchange plan formularies offered in the four geographic regions of the US (Northeast, Midwest, South, West). At the time we conducted our research, these formularies represented coverage policies governing pharmaceutical access for approximately 42 million Americans. All payers and formularies except for VHA were identified using the MMIT Analytics Market Access Database.

As noted earlier, for the 2023 report, we have added two new transparency analyses. First, we have evaluated whether payers provide public access to policies regarding continuation of coverage (i.e., "grandfathering") for enrollees coming into an insurance plan. Second, we assessed whether payers make it clear in publicly available information whether their formularies are subject to copay adjustment programs (e.g., copay accumulators, maximizers). More detailed explanation of these methods changes is provided in the body of the report.

The key limitations of this analysis will be emphasized throughout the report and are summarized in Table 1 below. First, among the full set of fair access criteria contained in the white paper, many are not able to be assessed from an external review of insurance coverage and tiering information. The criteria that we cannot assess aim to lessen patient financial burden or represent standards for the internal process of using evidence to frame access restrictions, thus our inability to assess them reduces our ability to present a comprehensive judgment of whether payers are meeting fair access criteria. Second, for judgments on cost sharing, we could only use tiering as a signal of the relative magnitude of out-of-pocket payment required, an approach that does not capture the wide variety of levels of co-payments and co-insurance within any tiering structure that are selected not by the payer but by plan sponsors. And third, our focus within the commercial sector on the largest payers may skew our analysis toward formularies that are more, or less, in concordance with the fair access criteria than those of smaller payers around the country.

 Table 1. Key Limitations to This Analysis of Barriers to Fair Access

	Key Limitations
1.	There are many important fair access design criteria not able to be evaluated from insurance coverage
	policies alone, including, for example:
	 Patient cost sharing should be based on the net price to the plan sponsor, not the unnegotiated list price;
	b. As part of step therapy, when patients try a lower cost option with a lower cost-sharing level but
	do not achieve an adequate clinical response, cost sharing for further therapies should also be at
	the lower cost-sharing level if those further therapies are priced fairly;
	c. Clinical eligibility criteria should be developed with explicit mechanisms that require payer staff to
	document that they have confirmed that clinical eligibility criteria have not gone beyond
	reasonable use of clinical trial inclusion/exclusion criteria to interpret or narrow the FDA label
	language in a way that disadvantages patients with underlying disabilities unrelated to the
	condition being treated
2.	We were unable to assess the efficiency of the process for requesting and adjudicating medical
	exceptions for individual patients.
3.	Tiering as a surrogate for cost sharing is not able to reflect the actual out of pocket cost sharing
	amount nor whether co-payment versus co-insurance is required.
4.	The data used to determine drug prices net of rebates are an average across all payers, including 340B
	institutions, and calculations include patient co-payment assistance and other expenditures that do not
	flow back to payers as rebates; therefore for any individual payer the net price they pay for a drug may
	not align precisely with our data, creating a risk for heterogeneity across payers in whether drugs have
	a "cost-effective" price and thus require preferential tiering to meet fair access criteria.
5.	It is possible that the 10 commercial formularies selected for this assessment provide superior or
	inferior coverage than the formularies of smaller payers.

FDA: U.S. Food and Drug Administration

To help provide important guidance on this project, the Barriers to Fair Access Assessment has benefited from ongoing input from a multi-stakeholder Working Group consisting of several representatives from leading patient advocacy groups, two from clinical specialty societies, one from a pharmacy benefit manager, and one from an umbrella organization for life sciences companies. The Working Group has advised ICER on the application of the fair access criteria to coverage policies; provided insight into the patient experience with prescription drug coverage and access, including real-world examples; and advised on important nuances in the interpretation of payer coverage policies. None of them should be assumed to agree with any of the specific methods, findings, or perspectives presented in this report. Members of the Working Group are listed in the <u>Supplemental Material</u>.

2. Drugs and Formularies to be Assessed

The 18 drugs that are in scope for this year's report are shown in Table 2 below. Average net prices for these drugs between January 2022 and December 2022 were calculated based on data from SSR Health, LLC, an independent investment research firm. SSR Health estimates net price by calculating sales revenue net of all discounts, rebates, concessions to wholesalers and distributors, and the costs of patient assistance programs, and dividing this revenue by unit sales data. Table 2 below divides the list of drugs into those with net prices from SSR Health that fall above and below \$150,000 per equal value of life years gained (evLYG), the threshold used for the purposes of this report to determine whether drugs are priced at a cost-effective level.

ICER did not calculate a benchmark price for two drugs in scope (Nexletol and Opzelura) so they were exempted from the cost sharing analysis. In the 2021 Atopic Dermatitis Report, Opzelura appeared to be more effective than medium potency topical corticosteroids in the mild-to-moderate population, but differences in trial designs precluded quantitative indirect comparisons across topical therapies. For Nexletol (bempedoic acid), ICER only estimated the cost effectiveness of the combination pill, Nexlizet (bempedoic acid/ezetimibe), as it is priced the same as Nexletol and so would be expected to dominate the monotherapy pill in any economic evaluation.

Table 2. Drug List

Brand Drug Name	Generic Drug Name	Condition	Maximum Annualized Cost-effective Price*
	Drugs With Net Prices	at or Below \$150,000 per evLYG	ì
Benlysta®	Belimumab	Lupus Nephritis	\$63,684
Nexlizet™	Bempedoic acid/ezetimibe	High Cholesterol	\$2,705
	Drugs With Net Prices Above	\$150,000 per evLYG Or Not Cal	culated
Abecma®	Idecabtagene vicleucel	Multiple Myeloma	\$275,734
Adbry®	Tralokinumab	Atopic Dermatitis	\$36,418
Camzyos™	Mavacamten	Hypertrophic Cardiomyopathy	\$15,608
Carvykti™	Ciltacabtagene autoleucel	Multiple Myeloma	\$324,638
Cibinqo®	Abrocitinib	Atopic Dermatitis	\$43,493
Cinryze®	C1 esterase inhibitors	Hereditary Angioedema	\$146,243 [‡]
Haegarda®	C1 esterase inhibitors	Hereditary Angioedema	\$258,856 [‡]
Leqvio®	Inclisiran	High Cholesterol	\$6,243
Lupkynis™	Voclosporin	Lupus Nephritis	\$104,988
Nexletol [®]	Bempedoic acid	High Cholesterol	Not calculated ⁺
Opzelura™	Ruxolitinib	Atopic Dermatitis	Not calculated ⁺
Rinvoq®	Upadacitinib	Atopic Dermatitis	\$43,181
Soliris®	Eculizumab	Myasthenia Gravis	\$20,186
Takhzyro™	Lanadelumab	Hereditary Angioedema	\$228,749 [‡]
Tezspire®	Tezepelumab	Asthma	\$12,590
Vyvgart™	Efgartigimod	Myasthenia Gravis	\$29,550

evLYG: Equal value of life years gained

*For details on dosing and pricing assumptions please see ICER Reports or ICER Analytics

⁺ Indicates instances where ICER did not calculate a benchmark price. Since we did not calculate a benchmark price any item with this categorization will be exempt for the cost sharing analysis.

[‡] The cost-effective price was determined by the QALY for drugs treating hereditary angioedema. The evLYG was not calculated in the ICER report assessing treatments for hereditary angioedema, as there was no evidence that these agents had any impact on mortality.

For these 18 drugs we conducted a standard data request from each payer to obtain cost sharing and prior authorization documentation for the relevant formularies. We used <u>MMIT's Market</u> <u>Access Analytics</u> platform to supplement any additional information that payers did not provide.

The 19 formularies evaluated are shown below in Table 3. Details on how MMIT assigns who "controls" a formulary and the covered lives under each formulary are provided in the Supplement. The formularies marketed under Express Scripts and Cigna Corporation remain separate in this database even though the companies are now merged because each company continues to make formulary decisions independently. Formularies for OptumRx and UnitedHealthcare were also evaluated separately because even though they use the same underlying template, UnitedHealthcare has the discretion to design its own coverage policies, which can differ from those in the OptumRx formulary.

Together, these formularies represent coverage policies governing pharmaceutical access for approximately 42 million Americans (MMIT Analytics as of 06/01/2023). See <u>Table A4.1 in the</u> <u>Supplement</u> for detailed information on covered lives per formulary.

Payer	Formulary Name (Largest or Smallest)	Plan Type	Tiers Available
CVS Health (Aetna)	CVS Caremark Performance Standard Control w/Advanced Specialty Control (Largest)	Commercial	 Generic Preferred Brand Non-Preferred Generic or Non-Preferred Brand
CVS Health (Aetna)	CVS Aetna Standard Opt Out with Advanced Control Specialty Formulary (Smallest)	Commercial	 Generic Preferred Brand Non-Preferred Brand Preferred Specialty Non-preferred Specialty
Express Scripts PBM	Express Scripts National Preferred with Advantage Plus (Largest)	Commercial	 Formulary Generics Formulary brands Non-formulary brands
Express Scripts PBM	Express Scripts High Performance with Limited (Smallest)	Commercial	1 - Formulary generics 2 – Formulary brands
UnitedHealth Group, Inc.	UnitedHealthcare Advantage 3 Tier (Largest)	Commercial	1 – Lower-cost 2 – Mid-range cost 3 – Highest-cost
UnitedHealth Group, Inc.	UnitedHealthcare Flex Access 4 Tier (Smallest)	Commercial	1 – Lower-cost 2 – Mid-range cost 3 – Mid-range cost 4 – Highest-cost
OptumRx	OptumRx Select Standard Formulary (Largest)	Commercial	1 – Lower-cost 2 – Mid-range cost 3 – Higher-cost
OptumRx	OptumRx Premium Formulary (Smallest)	Commercial	1 – Lower-cost 2 – Mid-range cost 3 – Higher-cost

Table 3. Largest and Smallest Formulary Offered by Each of the 5 Largest Commercial Payers, theVHA, and Largest and Smallest State Exchanges by Each Geographic Region per US Census

Payer	Formulary Name (Largest or Smallest)	Plan Type	Tiers Available
Cigna Corporation	Cigna Standard Three Tier (Largest)	Commercial	 Generic Preferred Brand Non-Preferred Generic or Non-Preferred Brand
Cigna Corporation	Cigna National Preferred (Smallest)	Commercial	1 - Generic 2 - Preferred Brand 3 - Non-Preferred Brand
Department of Veterans Affairs	VHA National Formulary	Federal	Not applicable
Horizon BlueCross Blue Shield of New Jersey	Horizon BlueCross Blue Shield of NJ HIX (Largest)	Health Exchange (NJ)	1 – Generic 2 – Preferred Brand 3 – Non-Preferred Brand
UnitedHealth Group, Inc.	UnitedHealthcare MA 3 Tier HIX (Smallest)	Health Exchange (MA)	1 – Lower-cost 2 – Mid-range cost 3 – Highest-cost
Health Care Service Corporation	Blue Cross Blue Shield of Illinois Marketplace 6 Tier HMO-HIX (Largest)	Health Exchange (IL)	 1 – Generic 2 – Non-Preferred Generic 3 – Preferred Brand 4 – Non-Preferred Brand 5 – Preferred Specialty 6 – Non-Preferred Specialty
Quartz Health Solutions	Quartz Health Solutions Standard Choice Four Tier (Smallest)	Health Exchange (IL)	T1 – Generic T2 – Preferred Brand T3 – Non-Preferred Brand T4P – Preferred Specialty T4N – Non-Preferred Specialty
Florida Blue	Florida Blue Care Choices HIX (Largest)	Health Exchange (FL)	 1 – Generic 2 – Preferred Brand 3 – Non-Preferred Brand 4 - Specialty
CVS Health (Aetna)	CVS Aetna Health Exchange Plan Innovation Health (Smallest)	Health Exchange (VA)	 Generic Preferred Brand Non-Preferred Brand Preferred Specialty Non-preferred Specialty
Kaiser Foundation Health Plans, Inc.	Kaiser Permanente California HIX (Largest)	Health Exchange (CA)	1 - Generic 2 - Brand 4 - Specialty
Cambia Health Solutions	BridgeSpan Metallic Formulary HIX (Smallest)	Health Exchange (UT)	 Generic/Brand (high value) Generic/Brand (moderate value) Brand (moderate value) Brand (lower value) Specialty (moderate value) Specialty (low value)

CA: California, FL: Florida, HIX: Health Insurance Exchange, IL: Illinois, MA: Massachusetts, NJ: New Jersey, PBM: pharmacy benefit manager, UT: Utah, VA: Virgina, VHA: Veterans Health Administration

*Kaiser Permanente California HIX does not have a non-preferred brand tier (Tier 3).

3. Fair Access Criteria

There are many potential barriers to access spanning health literacy, disability status, provider education and availability, personal resources, and access to affordable insurance coverage. ICER's original white paper focused narrowly on two areas over which plan sponsors and payers (inclusive of both pharmacy benefit managers [PBMs] and insurers) have the most control: cost-sharing provisions and the design and implementation of utilization management.

Given this focus, the white paper did not address many other important areas of coverage policy, including thresholds for the number or type of drugs needed within drug classes; coverage for offlabel prescribing; potential changes to the current rebate system; high-deductible benefit designs; and the role of co-payment coupons. Instead, the fair access criteria in the white paper directly address the following five domains:

- Cost-sharing provisions and tier placement as part of the drug benefit design
- Timing of development of prior authorization protocols following FDA approval
- Clinical eligibility criteria
- Step therapy and coverage requirements to switch medications
- Restrictions on prescriber qualifications

The purpose of the current assessment was to evaluate concordance of payer coverage policies for the 18 drugs that were the subject of ICER evidence reviews in 2021 and are currently FDA approved for the indication for which ICER evaluated them. In designing this assessment, we had to make one important concession: some of the fair access criteria cannot be evaluated without site visits, in-depth interviews, or access to material related to implementation of coverage policy procedures. Given our available resources, and the length of time it would take to perform a full, in-depth assessment of implementation, we decided not to evaluate the timing of development of prior authorization following FDA approval and several other important elements of fair access, such as responsiveness to initial requests for coverage, or timeliness of responses to requests for medical exceptions. We will stress throughout this report that these elements of fair access are critically important to patient and clinician experience and to patient outcomes. The fact that this current assessment did not evaluate these factors should be viewed as an important limitation on generalizing any judgment of whether a particular coverage policy represents "fair access."

In this year's report we have expanded our transparency analyses to include evaluation of whether plans provide adequate information to prospective enrollees on how continuation of coverage (i.e., "grandfathering") is managed and on whether formularies are subject to some form of adjustment to the way copayment support from drug makers is counted toward insurance deductible amounts (e.g. copay maximizers and accumulators). As with last year's transparency analyses, we chose to

perform a targeted evaluation of transparency limited to three drugs in the data set (Nexletol, Rinvoq, and Vyvgart). We selected these three drugs to ensure our analysis included treatments for different conditions and that medical and pharmacy benefit coverage would be assessed.

We present below and on the following pages the entire set of fair access criteria from the original white paper, indicating which criteria we have been able to include within the scope of this current assessment.

Cost Sharing	
Fair Design Criteria	In Scope for this Review?
Patient cost sharing should be based on the net price to the plan sponsor, not the unnegotiated list price.	No
All medications identified by the Internal Revenue Service as high-value therapies should receive pre- deductible coverage within high deductible health plans.	No
At least one drug in every class should be covered at the <i>lowest relevant</i> cost-sharing level unless all drugs are priced higher than an established fair value threshold.	Yes
If all drugs in a class are priced so that there is not a single drug that represents a fair value as determined through value assessment, it is reasonable for payers to have all drugs on a higher cost-sharing level.	Yes
If all drugs in a class are priced so that they represent a fair value, it remains reasonable for payers to use preferential formulary placement with tiered cost sharing to help achieve lower overall costs.	Yes
As part of economic step therapy, when patients try a lower cost option with a lower cost-sharing level but do not achieve an adequate clinical response, cost sharing for further therapies should also be at the lower cost-sharing level as long as those further therapies are priced fairly according to transparent criteria.	No

Table 4. Cost Sharing Fair Design Criteria

Commentary on Assessment Strategy for Cost Sharing

We have evaluated cost-sharing concordance only on the basis of the tiering of a drug within the pharmacy benefit, even for those payers who provide coverage under both pharmacy and medical benefits. The rationale for this approach is that formulary tiers often do not exist within medical benefit designs. While we heard from payers that claims under the medical benefit may represent the vast majority of claims for certain drugs covered under both benefits, we felt it was important to evaluate cost sharing under the pharmacy benefit because it is more often under the control of the payer and should meet fair access criteria even if a very small number of patients are affected.

To meet the criterion for fair cost sharing, a fairly-priced drug or at least one of its equivalent options must be placed on the "lowest relevant" tier of the formulary. The interpretation of which is the lowest relevant tier for certain drugs is made difficult by the number and labeling of tiers in different formularies. For the purposes of this report, we required a fairly-priced drug to be placed in the second tier ("preferred brand") for formularies built with three or four tiers. Thus, even for

four-tier formularies with a single "specialty" fourth tier, the formulary was required to place these drugs on the second tier in order to be judged concordant.

This approach was informed by input from payers who noted that they ultimately have discretion on whether to place an expensive "specialty" drug on a lower tier. However, payers also noted that four-tier formularies are designed in conjunction with plan sponsors and that a payer has an implied responsibility to administer a four-tier formulary by putting all specialty drugs on the fourth tier. One payer also told us that many benefits consultants prefer to place all specialty drugs on the same tier because, in their view, this creates a "fair" system that is straightforward to administer and under which all individuals who need a specialty drug are subject to the same relative costsharing level. In addition, some plan sponsors may choose to have the same cost-sharing amount for drugs on a specialty fourth tier as on a preferred brand tier, eliminating the differential in outof-pocket costs that would raise concerns for fair access. In fact, even though the principle of placing a drug on the lowest relevant tier should not change, the standard cost-sharing level for the specialty tier in some formularies may be lower than the cost-sharing level for the preferred brand tier in other formularies, complicating the attribution of a "barrier to fair access" based on tier placement alone.

The difficulty in interpreting tiering level as a surrogate for cost sharing is further compounded by the way tiered formularies are related to high-deductible health benefit designs. As shown in a report from <u>Kaiser Family Foundation</u>, in 2022, a higher percentage of all employees in plans without high deductibles had plans with four or more tiers (61%) than three tiers (30%). The 2021 version of the same report also noted that, whereas the percentage of four-tier formularies requiring co-insurance is higher than that for three-tier formularies (36% to 24%), most four-tier formularies still require only co-payments for all tiers.¹

Thus, the correlation of tiering level and actual out-of-pocket cost is not exact across formularies. Our approach to evaluating tier placement emphasizes a judgment about relative cost sharing rather than absolute cost sharing, and the actual question of whether cost sharing is presenting an unfair barrier to access can only be answered at the level of the individual plan sponsor.

The existence of manufacturer coupons and other patient assistance programs further complicates the assessment of patient out-of-pocket costs. Manufacturer coupons and patient assistance programs defray some or all of the co-payment or co-insurance for a prescription and, when allowed, contribute toward deductibles and annual out of-pocket maximums. When no generic alternatives are available, these programs shield patients from the rising costs of branded drugs. However, while undoubtedly beneficial for individuals, these programs have been criticized for encouraging patients to take more expensive branded drugs when cheaper options are available, increasing plan spending and ultimately increasing the costs of pharmaceutical coverage.²

Benefit designs using either co-pay maximizer or accumulator mechanisms represent another important limitation in our ability to use formulary tiering as a surrogate for the cost sharing requirements for patients. Under co-pay accumulators, co-pay coupons and patient assistance programs are not applied to deductibles or out of pocket spending; patients must use the maximum amount of assistance for which they are eligible, after which they must meet their deductible and out-of-pocket spending obligations. The use of accumulators can result in increased payments from drugmakers to payers. This approach can subject patients to high out-of-pocket costs, sometimes even in cases where no cheaper generic alternatives are available. In contrast, maximizers set the patient's out of pocket expenses for the drug to the maximum amount of the assistance program and ensure those costs are spread over the full year. Maximizers typically shield patients from high out-of-pocket costs at the same time they increase manufacturer payments to insurers. Both of these programs, which are intended in part to address the aforementioned dynamic that incentivizes brand medications over less expensive alternatives, can serve more as a mechanism to reduce plan costs beyond what they would be even without the application of co-payment coupons or manufacturer assistance. Co-pay accumulators, in particular, can increase patients' cost burdens, especially in conditions for which there are no alternatives to branded medications.³ The future of copay accumulators is uncertain, however, as a US judge recently struck down a rule that allowed them to be applied to brand drugs without generic equivalents.⁴

Despite these limitations in using tiering as an indicator of a fair approach to cost sharing, we believe that the general principle still holds: fairly-priced drugs should be placed on the lowest available relevant tier, which for brand name drugs is the second (preferred brand) tier.

Clinical Eligibility	
Fair Design Criteria	
Payers should offer alternatives to prior authorization protocols such as programs that give feedback on prescribing patterns to clinicians or exempt them from prior authorization requirements ("gold carding") if they demonstrate high fidelity to evidence-based prescribing.	No
Payers should document at least once annually that clinical eligibility criteria are based on high quality, up-to date evidence, with input from clinicians with experience in the same or similar clinical specialty.	No
 Clinical eligibility criteria should be developed with explicit mechanisms that require payer staff to document that they have: Considered limitations of evidence due to systemic under-representation of minority populations; and Sought input from clinical experts on whether there are distinctive benefits and harms of treatment that may arise for biological, cultural, or social reasons across different communities; and Confirmed that clinical eligibility criteria have not gone beyond reasonable use of clinical trial inclusion/exclusion criteria to interpret or narrow the FDA label language in a way that disadvantages patients with underlying disabilities unrelated to the condition being treated. 	No

Clinical Eligibility	
Fair Design Criteria	In Scope for this Review?
 For all drugs: Clinical eligibility criteria that complement the FDA label language may be used to: Set standards for diagnosis; and/or Define indeterminate clinical terms in the FDA label (e.g., "moderate-to-severe") with explicit reference to clinical guidelines or other standards; and/or Triage patients by clinical acuity when the payer explicitly documents that triage is both reasonable and necessary because: The size of the population included within the FDA label is extremely large, and there is a reasonable likelihood that many patients would seek treatment in the short term; AND The clinical infrastructure is not adequate to treat all patients seeking care and/or broad coverage would create such substantial increases in short-term insurance premiums or other financial strain that patients would be harmed through loss of affordable insurance; AND Acuity can be determined on objective clinical grounds and waiting for treatment will not cause significant irremediable harm. 	Yes
For drugs with prices or price increases that have been deemed reasonable: Except for the three purposes outlined above, clinical eligibility criteria should not deviate from the FDA label language in a manner that would narrow coverage.	Yes
For drugs with prices or price increases that have been deemed reasonable: Documentation that patients meet clinical eligibility criteria should represent a light administrative burden, including acceptance of clinician attestation in lieu of more formal medical record documentation unless documentation is critical to ensure patient safety.	Yes
For drugs with prices or price increases that have been deemed unreasonable: Clinical eligibility criteria may narrow coverage by applying specific eligibility criteria from the pivotal trials used to generate evidence for FDA approval if implemented with reasonable flexibility and supported by robust appeals procedures as described in the implementation criteria.	Yes

FDA: U.S. Food and Drug Administration

Table 6. Step Therapy and Required Switching Fair Design Criteria

Step Therapy and Required Switching	
Fair Design Criteria	In Scope for this Review?
 In order to justify economic step therapy policies extending beyond FDA labeling as appropriate, payers should explicitly affirm or present evidence to document all of the following: Use of the first-step therapy reduces overall health care spending, not just drug spending 	No
 The first-step therapy is clinically appropriate for all or nearly all patients and does not pose a greater risk of any significant side effect or harm. Patients will have a reasonable chance to meet their clinical goals with first-step therapy. Failure of the first-step drug and the resulting delay in beginning the second-step agent will not lead to long-term harm for patients. Patients are not required to retry a first-line drug with which they have previously had adverse side effects or an inadequate response at a reasonable dose and duration. 	Yes – threshold of a maximum of 3 steps even if all include appropriate first- line therapies
 In order to justify required switching policies as appropriate, payers should explicitly affirm or present evidence to document all of the following: Use of the required drug reduces overall health care spending. The required switch therapy is based on the same mechanism of action or presents a comparable risk and side effect profile to the index therapy. The required switch therapy has the same route of administration or the difference in route of administration will create no significant negative impact on patients due to clinical or socio-economic factors. Patients are not required to switch to a drug that they have used before at a reasonable dose and duration with inadequate response and/or significant side effects, including earlier use under a different payer. 	No

FDA: U.S. Food and Drug Administration

Table 7. Provider Qualifications Fair Design Criteria

Provider Qualifications		
Fair Design Criteria	In Scope for this Review?	
 Restrictions of coverage to specialty prescribers are reasonable with one or more of the following justifications: Accurate diagnosis and prescription require specialist training, with the risk that non-specialist clinicians would prescribe the medication for patients who may suffer harm or be unlikely to benefit. Determination of the risks and benefits of treatment for individual patients requires specialist training due to potential for serious side effects of therapy. Dosing, monitoring for side effects, and overall care coordination require specialist training to ensure safe and effective use of the medication. 	Yes	
Requiring that non-specialist clinicians attest they are caring for the patient in consultation with a relevant specialist is a reasonable option when the condition is frequently treated in primary care settings but some elements of dosing, monitoring for side effects, and/or overall coordination of care would benefit from specialist input for many patients.	Yes	

Table 8. Transparency Fair Design Criteria

Transparency	
Fair Access Criteria	In Scope for this Review?
Cost-sharing policies should be presented clearly to consumers prior to health plan selection,	
allowing all individuals to understand what cost sharing they will face for treatments they are	Yes
currently taking or are considering.	
Any significant change to formulary or cost sharing structures should not occur mid-cycle unless	No
plan sponsors include this as a qualifying event allowing plan enrollees to switch plans.	NO
At the point of care, clinicians and patients should be able to rapidly determine the cost-sharing	No
requirements for any treatment along with cost sharing for other alternatives.	NO
Individuals considering health plan enrollment should be presented with clear information	
allowing them to understand whether they meet the insurers' clinical criteria for the treatments	Yes
they are currently taking. The policies should also set out the rationale behind them and be readily	res
understandable.	
Clinicians and patients should be able to rapidly determine the clinical criteria for any treatment	
and view the clinical rationale supporting these criteria. The referenced clinical information should	No
be readily available to the prescribing/ordering provider and the public.	
Individuals considering health plan enrollment should be presented with clear information	
allowing them to understand whether the treatments they currently take or envision taking will be	Yes
subject to non-medical step therapy or switching policies.	
Clinicians, pharmacists, and patients should be able to rapidly determine the requirements related	
to step therapy and switching policies and be able to easily view a full justification from the	No
insurer.	
Individuals considering health plan enrollment should be able to easily find information related to	
coverage criteria, including prescriber qualifications, for drugs that they or family members are	Yes
currently taking.	
Clinicians and patients should be able to rapidly determine whether there is a restriction on	
prescribing for any treatment. Insurers should provide ready assistance to primary care clinicians	No
seeking connection with a relevant specialist for consultation as needed.	

Commentary on Assessment Strategy for Transparency

To evaluate prospective plan enrollees' ability to find information about cost sharing (including whether a formulary is subject to a copay adjustment program), clinical eligibility criteria, and continuation of coverage policies for new plan members, we explored the public-facing website information for each formulary. The goal was to mimic the experience of a prospective enrollee who needed to find out what the requirements for coverage would be and the level of cost sharing for a drug they were already taking. We did not evaluate the transparency of this information during the process of care once patients are enrolled in the health plan.

4. Results

We evaluated coverage policies for 18 drugs across 19 formularies for a maximum of 18 x 19 = 342 possible drug-formulary policy combinations. During our data abstraction phase, the total possible drug-formulary policy combinations was reduced to 341 because the VHA has no national criteria for ruxolitinib cream (decisions about coverage and access are determined by local jurisdictions). In each category of fair access, some criteria were not applicable, either because the drug was not covered, the drug was not cost-effectively priced (in which case the cost-sharing fair access criterion related to tiering does not apply), or the drug was considered non-formulary (in which case only cost-sharing criteria can be assessed since payers can be held accountable for the tiering of therapeutic alternatives that are in the formulary).

Applicable policies on the 18 drugs were provided by all payers except for Quartz Health Solutions Standard Choice Four Tier. For this formulary we therefore used the MMIT database of coverage policies to inform our assessment, but full versions of policies for six drugs were not available. However, MMIT was able to provide some information abstracted from these policies, allowing us to evaluate step therapy on four of these drugs and prescriber criteria for one drug. All other fair access criteria for these six drugs were marked as "not applicable" for the Quartz Health Solutions Standard Choice Four Tier formulary. MMIT pulls data from a variety of sources known as the MMIT Network, a repository of open-source data including e-prescribing and similar point-of-care solutions, physician educational channels, long-term care and other pharmacies, pharmaceutical manufacturers, and most notably health plans and PBMs. When a policy is not referenced in the MMIT database, it is because MMIT has obtained this information either through a proprietary source, intelligence provided by their network of panelists, and/or other non-publishable digital data assets.

Throughout the report and supplement, numerators and denominators exclude policies for drugs that were determined to be non-formulary, except, as noted, for assessments of the cost-sharing criteria. While this approach does not explicitly penalize a payer in several categories of fair access for excluding a drug from the formulary, it avoids the concern that a payer could receive a favorable rating under clinical eligibility, prescriber restrictions, or step therapy even if the drug is substantially more difficult for a patient to access due to it being non-formulary.

Concordance by Fair Access Criterion

Our analysis of each individual drug-formulary combination is described in the Supplemental Material. As can be seen in Table 10 below, overall results for concordance with the four fair access criteria domains measured range from a low of 62% for cost sharing, to a high of 100% for prescriber restrictions.

Table 10. Number of Coverage Policies Available and Overall Rate of Concordance with FairAccess Criteria Assessed

Fair Access Criterion	Drug-Formulary Combinations with Relevant Policies Available* out of Applicable Policies, n/N (%)	Concordant Policies, n/N (%)
Cost sharing	37/38 (97%)	23/37 (62%)
Clinical eligibility	260/266 (98%)	257/260 (99%)
Step therapy	264/266 (99%)	261/264 (99%)
Prescriber restrictions	262/267 (98%)	262/262 (100%)

*No policies were provided by Quartz Health Solutions for the Quartz Health Solutions Standard Choice Four Tier. Full versions of policies for six drugs under the Quartz Health Solutions Standard Choice Four Tier were not available in MMIT. MMIT was able to provide some information abstracted from these policies, allowing us to evaluate step therapy on four of these drugs and prescriber criteria for one drug.

The percentage of policies judged concordant in Table 10 above uses the number of available policies as the denominator. We believe this is the best single quantitative measure of overall concordance because it does not seem reasonable to reduce concordance rates by including in the denominator policies that are not applicable. However, Table 11 below presents the results with not applicable drug policies as a component of all policies evaluated.

Fair Access Criterion	Concordant n (%)	Not Concordant n (%)	Not Applicable* n (%)
Cost sharing	23 (7%)	14 (4%)	304 (89%)
Clinical eligibility	257 (75%)	3 (1%)	81 (24%)
Step therapy	261 (77%)	3 (1%)	77 (23%)
Prescriber restrictions	262 (77%)	0 (0%)	79 (23%)

Table 11. Overall Rate of Concordance with Fair Access Criteria Assessed

*Not applicable includes cases when the drug is not covered by the payer, coverage status is unknown, and if a policy was not available (which was only the case for some drugs covered on the Quartz Health Solutions Standard Choice Four Tier). For cost sharing, the criteria are also not applicable for drugs that are not priced within cost-effectiveness levels or that are covered by a payer only through the medical benefit.

1. Cost Sharing

Two drugs out of the 18 were determined to be priced, net of rebates and discounts, within reasonable cost-effectiveness levels: Nexlizet and Benlysta.

Nexlizet had a 78% (14/18) concordance rate for cost-sharing, with three formularies (Cambia BridgeSpan Metallic Formulary HIX, CVS Aetna Health Exchange Plan Innovation Health, and Express Scripts High Performance) listing the drug as non-formulary, and one formulary (Horizon BlueCross BlueShield of NJ HIX) having the drug on formulary, but not having it placed on the lowest relevant tier. Benlysta had a 47% (9/19) concordance rate for cost sharing, with ten formularies either listing the drug as non-formulary or placing it on a tier that did not represent the lowest relevant tier in that formulary. Five formularies list Benlysta on a specialty tier, but only one of these formularies had only one specialty tier available and was therefore rated as non-concordant (Florida Blue Care Choices HIX). Two health plans argued that placing Benlysta on the specialty tier was appropriate because a clinical guideline recommends other, less expensive treatments as first-line options.⁵ However, we believe that steering patients to lower-cost options can be done more appropriately through step therapy because keeping a fairly priced drug on a tier requiring higher cost sharing is unfair to those patients who have tried other first-line options and not had adequate response.

- Non-formulary: CVS Aetna Health Exchange Plan Innovation Health, Kaiser Permanente California HIX
- Non-lowest relevant tier: CVS Aetna Standard Opt Out with ACSF, CVS Caremark Performance Standard Control w/Advanced Specialty Control, Cigna Standard Three Tier, OptumRx Premium, OptumRx Select Standard, HCSC Blue Cross Blue Shield of Illinois Marketplace 6 Tier HMO-HIX, Quartz Health Solutions Standard Choice Four Tier, Florida Blue Care Choices HIX

2. Clinical Eligibility

There was a high rate of concordance overall with the fair access criteria related to how payers used the FDA label, clinical trial clinical eligibility criteria, and clinical guidelines to determine the clinical eligibility criteria for coverage. Adbry was the only drug for which one or more formularies did not meet fair access criteria.

• Adbry: Three formularies (Cigna National Preferred, Express Scripts High Performance, and Express Scripts National Preferred) did not meet clinical eligibility criteria. These formularies define moderate to severe atopic dermatitis as only having an affected body surface area of greater than or equal to 10% with no mention of involved crucial body areas. Consensus recommendations state to consider involvement of crucial areas and quality of life in defining moderate to severe disease.

3. Step Therapy

There was a high rate of concordance for the design of step therapy policies. Soliris and Vyvgart were the only drugs for which one or more formularies did not meet fair access criteria.

 Soliris: Two formularies (Horizon BlueCross BlueShield of NJ HIX, and Cambia BridgeSpan Metallic Formulary HIX) required four steps of alternative therapies before accessing Soliris, exceeding the 3-step maximum to achieve concordance. • Vyvgart: One formulary (Cambia BridgeSpan Metallic Formulary HIX) required four steps of alternative therapies before accessing Vyvgart, exceeding the 3-step maximum to achieve concordance.

As shown in Table 13 below, although no single drug had a rate of concordance for step therapy criteria lower than 89% across all formularies, we found variation for many drugs in the number of steps required before receiving coverage for the drug.

Drug Brand Name (Formulary type)	Most Common # of Steps	Range	Formularies with Non-Concordant Number of Steps (≥4 Steps)
Abecma (Medical)	0	0-1	N/A
Adbry (Pharmacy)	0	2	N/A
Benlysta (Pharmacy)	0	0	N/A
Camzyos (Pharmacy)	0	0-2	N/A
Carvykti (Medical)	0	0-1	N/A
Cibinqo (Pharmacy)	0 or 1	0-2	N/A
Cinryze (Pharmacy)	0	0-1	N/A
Haegarda (Pharmacy)	0	0-1	N/A
Leqvio (Medical)	1	0-3	N/A
Lupkynis (Pharmacy)	0	0	N/A
Nexletol (Pharmacy)	1	0-1	N/A
Nexlizet (Pharmacy)	1	0-1	N/A
Opzelura (Pharmacy)	0	0	N/A
Rinvoq (Pharmacy)	0	0-2	N/A
Soliris (Medical)	3	0-4	Cambia BridgeSpan Metallic Formulary HIX, Horizon BlueCross BlueShield of NJ HIX
Takhzyro (Pharmacy)	0	0-1	N/A
Tezspire (Pharmacy)	0	0-1	N/A
Vyvgart (Medical)	2	0-4	Cambia BridgeSpan Metallic Formulary HIX

 Table 13. Number of Steps Required for Prior Authorization by Drug

HIX: Health Insurance Exchange, N/A: Not Applicable, NJ: New Jersey

4. Prescriber Restrictions

Of the applicable policies, all 262/262 (100%) were concordant with the fair access criteria for prescriber restrictions.

Concordance by Drug

Because the drugs included in our analysis can be covered under pharmacy benefits, medical benefits, or both, we had to decide how to report the findings in a way that conveys a fair "apples to apples" comparison across formularies. When a drug was covered by a payer under both the pharmacy benefit and medical benefit, we selected for assessment the coverage policy under the benefit type that was used by the greatest number of payers overall (i.e., the "predominant benefit plan type"). Only pharmacy benefit coverage policies were used to judge cost-sharing concordance for reasons discussed above in Chapter 3. Results for each drug on concordance on all criteria are shown on the following page in Table 14.

Because overall concordance with the fair access criteria was so high, there was not enough variation to explore correlation with features of the drug, drug class, or drug pricing.

Table 14. Concordance with Fair Access Criteria by Drug: Number (%) of Payers with Concordant
Policies out of Payers with Applicable Policies. Concordance Requires Meeting All Applicable
Individual Criteria.

	Predominant Benefit Plan Type	Cost Sharing	Clinical Eligibility	Step Therapy	Prescriber Restrictions
Drug (Indication)	(Number of formularies with predominant plan type/number of all formularies)	Concordant Policies, n/N* (%)	Concordant Policies, n/N* (%)	Concordant Policies, n/N* (%)	Concordant Policies, n/N* (%)
Abecma (Multiple Myeloma)	Medical (19/19)	N/A	13/13 (100)	14/14 (100)	14/14 (100)
Adbry (Atopic Dermatitis)	Pharmacy (19/19)	N/A	13/16 (81)	16/16 (100)	16/16 (100)
Benlysta (Lupus Nephritis)	Pharmacy (19/19)	9/19 (47)	17/17 (100)	17/17 (100)	17/17 (100)
Camzyos (Hypertrophic Cardiomyopathy)	Pharmacy (19/19)	N/A	14/14 (100)	14/14 (100)	15/15 (100)
Carvykti (Multiple Myeloma)	Medical (18/18)	N/A	13/13 (100)	13/13 (100)	13/13 (100)
Cibinqo (Atopic Dermatitis)	Pharmacy (19/19)	N/A	14/14 (100)	14/14 (100)	14/14 (100)
Cinryze (Hereditary Angioedema)	Pharmacy (14/19)	N/A	10/10 (100)	11/11 (100)	10/10 (100)
Haegarda (Hereditary Angioedema)	Pharmacy (18/19)	N/A	16/16 (100)	17/17 (100)	16/16 (100)
Leqvio (High Cholesterol)	Medical (15/19)	N/A	15/15 (100)	15/15 (100)	15/15 (100)
Lupkynis (Lupus Nephritis)	Pharmacy (19/19)	N/A	12/12 (100)	12/12 (100)	12/12 (100)
Nexletol (High Cholesterol)	Pharmacy (19/19)	N/A	13/13 (100)	13/13 (100)	13/13 (100)
Nexlizet (High Cholesterol)	Pharmacy (19/19)	14/18 (78)	13/13 (100)	13/13 (100)	13/13 (100)
Opzelura (Atopic Dermatitis)	Pharmacy (18/18 ⁺)	N/A	10/10 (100)	10/10 (100)	10/10 (100)
Rinvoq (Atopic Dermatitis)	Pharmacy (19/19)	N/A	19/19 (100)	19/19 (100)	19/19 (100)
Soliris (Myasthenia Gravis)	Medical (13/19)	N/A	18/18 (100)	16/18 (89)	18/18 (100)
Takhzyro (Hereditary Angioedema)	Pharmacy (18/19)	N/A	17/17 (100)	18/18 (100)	17/17 (100)
Tezspire (Asthma)	Pharmacy (13/19)	N/A	14/14 (100)	14/14 (100)	14/14 (100)
Vyvgart (Myasthenia Gravis)	Medical (15/19)	N/A	16/16 (100)	15/16 (94)	16/16 (100)

N/A: Not applicable (meaning that these drugs are not priced at a cost-effective level (n=2) and therefore the cost sharing criteria do not apply)

*The total N for each fair access criteria represents whether the specific criterion is applicable for that drug. † The number of formularies is 18 for Opzelura (ruxolitinib cream) because the VHA National Formulary has no

national criteria for this agent (decisions about coverage and access are determined by local jurisdictions)

Concordance by Formulary

As shown in Table 15 on the following page, the percent concordance across all 18 drugs on specific fair access criteria varies between formularies, ranging from 0% to 100% for cost sharing, 90% to 100% for clinical eligibility, and 75% to 100% for step therapy. One limitation in interpreting the specific findings for individual formularies should be emphasized: the relatively small number of drug policies applicable for assessment, particularly in the cost sharing domain. The small number of relevant policies in this domain, ranging from one to two, means that a different rating for a single drug leads to very large absolute differences in the percentage of concordance with fair access criteria. Therefore, we advise readers of these results to avoid making strong interpretations of relative performance as measured in percentage for concordance with the cost sharing criteria.

It should also be noted that not all formularies could be assessed on all criteria for the full set of 18 drugs. In Table 15, for each formulary, the total 'N' between criteria differs across payers when some payers covered particular drugs only on the medical benefit, or when drugs were excluded from the formulary. As mentioned, the cost-sharing criteria are only applicable if the drug is priced at a cost-effective level and is covered by the payer under a pharmacy benefit. For non-formulary drugs, cost-sharing criteria are applicable since they can be applied to the formulary placement of reasonable alternatives in the same drug class, but the remaining criteria would not apply.

		Cost Sharing*	Clinical Eligibility	Step Therapy	Prescriber Restrictions
Formulary	Formulary Size and Region	Concordant Policies, n/N^{\dagger} (%)			
Commercial					
Cigna National Preferred	Small	2/2 (100)	17/18 (94)	18/18 (100)	18/18 (100)
Cigna Standard Three Tier	Large	1/2 (50)	16/16 (100)	16/16 (100)	16/16 (100)
CVS Aetna Standard Opt Out with ACSF	Small	1/2 (50)	14/14 (100)	14/14 (100)	14/14 (100)
CVS Caremark Performance Standard Control w/Advanced Specialty Control	Large	1/2 (50)	9/9 (100)	9/9 (100)	9/9 (100)
Express Scripts High Performance	Small	1/2 (50)	9/10 (90)	10/10 (100)	10/10 (100)
Express Scripts National Preferred	Large	2/2 (100)	10/11 (91)	11/11 (100)	11/11 (100)
OptumRx Premium	Small	1/2 (50)	11/11 (100)	11/11 (100)	11/11 (100)
OptumRx Select Standard	Large	1/2 (50)	16/16 (100)	16/16 (100)	16/16 (100)
UnitedHealthcare Flex Access 4 Tier	Small	2/2 (100)	17/17 (100)	17/17 (100)	17/17 (100)
UnitedHealthcare Advantage 3 Tier	Large	2/2 (100)	17/17 (100)	17/17 (100)	17/17 (100)
Federal					
VHA National Formulary	N/A	2/2 (100)	17/17 (100)	17/17 (100)	17/17 (100)
State Exchange					
Cambia BridgeSpan Metallic Formulary HIX	Small, West	1/2 (50)	8/8 (100)	6/8 (75)	8/8 (100)
CVS Aetna Health Exchange Plan Innovation Health	Small, South	0/2 (0)	6/6 (100)	6/6 (100)	6/6 (100)
Florida Blue Care Choices HIX	Large, South	1/2 (50)	18/18 (100)	18/18 (100)	18/18 (100)
HCSC Blue Cross Blue Shield of Illinois Marketplace 6 Tier HMO-HIX	Large, Midwest	1/2 (50)	15/15 (100)	15/15 (100)	15/15 (100)
Horizon BlueCross BlueShield of NJ HIX	Large, Northeast	1/2 (50)	14/14 (100)	13/14 (93)	15/15 (100)
Kaiser Permanente California HIX	Large, West	1/2 (50)	18/18 (100)	18/18 (100)	18/18 (100)
Quartz Health Solutions Standard Choice Four Tier [‡]	Small, Midwest	0/1 (0)	8/8 (100)	12/12 (100)	9/9 (100)
UnitedHealthcare MA 3 Tier HIX	Small, Northeast	2/2 (100)	17/17 (100)	17/17 (100)	17/17 (100)

Table 15. Rate of Concordance by Formulary: Number (%) of Policies Meeting Each Fair Access Criterion out of all Relevant Policies

BCBS: Blue Cross Blue Shield, CA: California, HCSC: Health Care Service Corporation, HIX: Health Insurance Exchange, MA: Massachusetts, MI: Michigan, NJ: New Jersey, PBM: Pharmacy Benefit Manager, VHA: Veterans Health Administration

*Five formularies list Benlysta on a specialty tier; only one of these formularies had a single one specialty tier available and was therefore rated as non-concordant (Florida Blue Care Choices HIX).

[†]Cost-sharing criteria apply to only two drugs that were priced at cost-effective levels. N for the remaining three criteria may not always total 18 due to criteria being not applicable for some drugs.

‡Full versions of policies for six drugs under Quartz Health Solutions Standard Choice Four Tier were not available in MMIT. MMIT was able to provide some information abstracted from these policies, allowing us to evaluate step therapy on four of these drugs and prescriber criteria for one drug.

Concordance by Formulary Type, Size and Location

Tables 16 through 19 report the rate of concordance by formulary type, size, and location.

There were high rates of concordance for clinical eligibility, step therapy and prescriber restrictions regardless of formulary type, size, and location (\geq 92%). Given the high concordance rates through all categories of formularies, there was no signal of systematically better or worse performance by formulary type, size, or location. Because of the small number of relevant policies in the cost sharing domain, we advise readers to avoid drawing strong conclusions of relative performance by formulary type, size, or location for this domain.

Table 16. Rate of Concordance by Formulary Type

	Cost Sharing	Clinical Eligibility	Step Therapy	Prescriber Restrictions
	Concordant	Concordant	Concordant	Concordant
Formulary type	Policies,	Policies,	Policies,	Policies,
	n/N* (%)	n/N* (%)	n/N* (%)	n/N* (%)
State exchange formularies	7/15 (47)	104/104 (100)	105/108 (97)	106/106 (100)
Commercial formularies	14/20 (70)	136/139 (98)	139/139 (100)	139/139 (100)
Federal (VHA National) formulary	2/2 (100)	17/17 (100)	17/17 (100)	17/17 (100)

*The total N for each fair access criteria represents whether the specific criterion is applicable for the drug and formulary combination within each formulary type.

	Cost Sharing	Clinical Eligibility	Step Therapy	Prescriber Restrictions
	Concordant	Concordant	Concordant	Concordant
Formulary Size	Policies,	Policies,	Policies,	Policies,
	n/N* (%)	n/N* (%)	n/N* (%)	n/N* (%)
Small	10/17 (59)	107/109 (98)	111/113 (98)	110/110 (100)
Large	11/18 (61)	133/134 (99)	133/134 (99)	135/135 (100)
VHA National formulary	2/2 (100)	17/17 (100)	17/17 (100)	17/17 (100)

*The total N for each fair access criteria represents whether the specific criterion is applicable for the drug and formulary combination within each formulary size.

Table 18. Rate of Concordance by Health Exchange Formulary Size

	Cost Sharing	Clinical Eligibility	Step Therapy	Prescriber Restrictions
State Exchange Formulary Size	Concordant Policies, n/N* (%)	Concordant Policies, n/N* (%)	Concordant Policies, n/N* (%)	Concordant Policies, n/N* (%)
Small	3/7 (43)	39/39 (100)	41/43 (95)	40/40 (100)
Large	4/8 (50)	65/65 (100)	64/65 (98)	66/66 (100)

*The total N for each fair access criteria represents whether the specific criterion is applicable for the drug and formulary combination within each health exchange formulary size.

	Cost Sharing	Clinical Eligibility	Step Therapy	Prescriber Restrictions
State Exchange Location	Concordant Policies,	Concordant Policies,	Concordant Policies,	Concordant Policies,
	n/N* (%)	n/N* (%)	n/N* (%)	n/N* (%)
Midwest	1/3 (33)	23/23 (100)	27/27 (100)	24/24 (100)
Northeast	3/4 (75)	31/31 (100)	30/31 (97)	32/32 (100)
South	1/4 (25)	24/24 (100)	24/24 (100)	24/24 (100)
West	2/4 (50)	26/26 (100)	24/26 (92)	26/26 (100)

Table 19. Rate of Concordance by Health Exchange Location

*The total N for each fair access criteria represents whether the specific criterion is applicable for the drug and formulary combination within each state exchange location.

Concordance by Condition

Table 20 below reports the rate of concordance by condition.

There was 100% concordance for drugs included in our analysis for treating hereditary angioedema, multiple myeloma, hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, and asthma. For atopic dermatitis, there were three formulary policies for Adbry that had clinical eligibility restrictions that did not meet our concordance criteria. For lupus nephritis, the majority (53%) of formulary policies for Benlysta had cost sharing criteria that did not meet concordance. For high cholesterol, four formulary policies for Nexlizet had tiering that did not meet our cost sharing criteria. For myasthenia gravis, there were three formulary policies (two for Soliris and one for Vyvgart) that had step therapy restrictions that did not meet our concordance criteria.

	Cost Sharing	Clinical Eligibility	Step Therapy	Prescriber Restrictions
	Concordant	Concordant	Concordant	Concordant
Condition	Policies,	Policies,	Policies,	Policies,
	n/N* (%)	n/N* (%)	n/N* (%)	n/N* (%)
Atopic Dermatitis	0/0 (100)	56/59 (95)	59/59 (100)	59/59 (100)
Lupus Nephritis	9/19 (47)	29/29 (100)	29/29 (100)	29/29 (100)
High Cholesterol	14/18 (78)	41/41 (100)	41/41 (100)	41/41 (100)
Hereditary Angioedema	0/0 (100)	43/43 (100)	46/46 (100)	43/43 (100)
Multiple Myeloma	0/0 (100)	26/26 (100)	27/27 (100)	27/27 (100)
Myasthenia Gravis	0/0 (100)	34/34 (100)	31/34 (91)	34/34 (100)
Hypertrophic Cardiomyopathy	0/0 (100)	14/14 (100)	14/14 (100)	15/15 (100)
Asthma	0/0 (100)	14/14 (100)	14/14 (100)	14/14 (100)

Table 20. Rate of Concordance by Condition

*The total N for each fair access criteria represents whether the specific criterion is applicable for the drug and formulary combination within each condition.

Exploratory Transparency Analyses

In addition to analyses of concordance with fair access criteria for cost sharing, clinical eligibility criteria, step therapy, and prescriber restrictions, we evaluated a select set of drugs and formularies on criteria related to the transparency of information for prospective enrollees on cost sharing (including whether a formulary is subject to a copay adjustment program [e.g., accumulators or maximizers]), clinical eligibility criteria, and continuation of coverage when switching from an outside insurer.

We used a targeted approach and elected to evaluate the availability of this information for three drugs: Nexletol, Rinvoq, and Vyvgart. We excluded formularies offered by PBMs from all transparency analyses because their typical business model is to provide services to a health plan, which then serves as the primary portal through which potential enrollees learn about coverage for drugs that they are already taking or expecting to begin. In addition, health plans frequently request changes to the standard policies offered by PBMs; as such, the documents available from a payer website are the most accurate representation of the policies that apply to plan members. After excluding PBMs, 14 formularies were assessed for transparency.

For each of these analyses, we conducted a search of the payer's website to determine whether this information was available to individuals prior to plan enrollment. We reviewed information posted under the patient portal, provider portal, and used the search function of the website when policies could not otherwise be located. We note that our use of the provider portal is a liberal interpretation of making this information transparent for prospective enrollees; however, because information through the provider portal is technically available publicly to individuals prior to plan enrollment, we considered documents found on the provider portal to be eligible for consideration. We did not use external search engines (e.g., Google) to supplement this search because there would not have been a definitive and consistent way to determine whether a policy identified through this method was current and/or whether it applied to one of the formularies in scope.

In keeping with our approach throughout this report, non-formulary drugs were not assessed for transparency of clinical criteria and received a "not applicable" (N/A) rating. Similarly, we did not assess the transparency of cost sharing information for drugs covered under the medical benefit, as formulary tiers often do not exist within medical benefit designs. This resulted in denominators of less than 14 for several of the below analyses.

Summary results are presented in Table 21 below and ratings for each formulary / drug combination can be found in <u>Supplement Tables B20.1-B20.3</u>.

	Transparency of Cost-Sharing and Tier Information	Transparency of Copay Adjustment Programs	Transparency of Clinical Criteria	Transparency of Continuation of Coverage
Nexletol	10/10 (100%)	8/14 (57%)	7/10 (70%)	5/14 (36%)
Rinvoq	13/13 (100%)	8/14 (57%)	12/13 (92%)	9/14 (64%)
Vyvgart	3/3 (100%)	8/14 (57%)	13/14 (93%)	9/14 (64%)

Table 21. Summary of Results for Exploratory Transparency Analyses

Transparency of Cost Sharing and Copay Adjustment Programs

For cost sharing, a plan met criteria if they provided information showing the tiers for their formulary and the specific cost-sharing or co-insurance levels for each tier. For copay adjustment programs, a plan met criteria if they disclosed that patients might be subject to one of these programs and provided information about whether it applies to some or all drugs.

All formularies that covered the assessed drugs provided sufficient information on cost-sharing under the pharmacy benefit (10/10 for Nexletol, 13/13 for Rinvoq, and 3/3 for Vyvgart; lower denominators are due to non-formulary status for Rinvoq and Nexletol, and medical benefit coverage for Vyvgart).

Fewer formularies (8 [57%] of 14 for each drug) provided information on whether the drugs were subject to copay adjustment programs. Two plans (Kaiser Permanente and United Healthcare) provided this information in a particularly clear manner. Kaiser Permanente has a dedicated webpage that lists specific drugs that are eligible for coupons, explains when patients can use them, where they can be found, and specifies that coupons count toward out-of-pocket obligations.⁶ United Healthcare has a document that notes that specialty medications filled at the Optum Pharmacy are subject to a copay accumulator program and describes how patients' out-of-pocket obligations have changed since the implementation of this program.⁷

Transparency of Clinical Criteria

When a copy of the clinical policy for Nexletol, Rinvoq, or Vyvgart was publicly accessible on the plan's website, meaning no login credentials were required, the plan was considered to have transparency of clinical criteria. The majority of formularies 12 (92%) of 13 for Rinvoq (the lower denominator is due to non-formulary status) and 13 (93%) of 14 for Vyvgart provided public access to the clinical criteria. A slightly lower percentage was found for Nexletol (7 [70%] of 10). An important limitation of these findings is that more than half of the clinical criteria policies across the three drugs were only found within the provider portal sections of the plans' websites. It is possible that a prospective plan member would not explore the Provider section of a website for materials, especially in the cases where a plan requires the user to attest that they are a health care provider. Cambia is an example of a plan that provides access to their clinical criteria for all three drugs through the member section of their website.⁸

The plan offered by Kaiser Permanente presents an unusual circumstance. Although the formulary did not meet our criteria for transparency (no detailed policies were publicly available), we understand that physicians working in the Kaiser Permanente system are able to prescribe any drug they deem to be medically necessary, even if it is not a recommended therapy under their internal guidelines. Had Kaiser Permanente described this practice on their website, they would have met our criteria.

Transparency of Continuation of Coverage Policies

We assessed whether plans provide explicit policies that describe the process through which prospective plan members can request continued coverage for their drug when switching insurers to join the plan. As there may be alternative terms for this process used across the health care space, we searched for a broad set of terms within each plan's website, such as "grandfathering," "exception request," "continuation of therapy/coverage," and "maintenance of medical coverage."

We found that only five (36%) of 14 formularies had adequate transparency on clinical criteria for Nexletol while nine (64%) of 14 formularies had clinical criteria available for Rinvoq and Vyvgart. In some cases, there was inconsistent transparency within a given formulary. For example, the policy for Vyvgart in the Florida Blue Care Choices HIX formulary clearly states that, "an authorization or reauthorization for efgartigimod [Vyvgart] has been previously approved by Florida Blue or another health plan..."⁹ In contrast, the same policy for Nexletol from the same formulary says only that, "the patient has been previously approved for the requested agent through the plan's Prior Authorization process," which does not specifically describe whether this policy applies to new members who are already taking the drug and, as such, did not meet our transparency criterion.¹⁰

In general, there was substantial ambiguity in the language that many plans used to describe their policies for continuation of coverage. We found that plans use different terms to describe their continuation of coverage policies for incoming new plan members, such as "exception request," "continuation of therapy/coverage," and "manual transition of care." One plan (HCSC) told us the absence of any language regarding continuation of coverage for Nexletol meant the member would need to meet HCSC's initial authorization criteria. However, because the plan did not provide explicit language stating new plan members need to go through HCSC's criteria, we found the policy to be insufficiently transparent. In contrast, Cambia has a standalone "continuation of therapy (COT)" policy which clearly notes that a new plan member must meet Cambia's medical necessity criteria to receive coverage for a non-formulary drug.¹¹

Furthermore, some formularies had policies that described how continuation of coverage would be managed for non-formulary drugs, but not for drugs included on the formulary that had prior authorization or step therapy criteria. For example, CVS Aetna Standard Opt Out with ACSF formulary did not describe how continuation of coverage would be managed for Nexletol, which is on the preferred brand tier.¹² In contrast, Nexletol is non-formulary for CVS Aetna Health Exchange

Plan Innovation Health, but the plan transparently describes how patients can request a medical exception to allow coverage for a drug they are currently taking.¹³ This discrepancy may be due to rules governing the transparency of benefit, coverage and cost-sharing information required by CMS of health insurance exchange plans.¹⁴

Changes to Payer Coverage Policies After Draft Analysis

Draft results of this analysis were shared with all payers on June 1, 2023 for a three-week comment period, and again on August 29 for a four-week comment period. During each period, payers were asked to submit comments and were invited to provide corrections, updates, and perspectives on the draft concordance ratings. As part of the feedback received from payers, one payer informed us that they were changing their clinical criteria for coverage in a way that would now meet our fair access criteria. In order to preserve the integrity of the analysis, we have not included this change in the primary results presented above. But to capture the status of all policies as of the time of the publication of this report, and to suggest how coverage policies may evolve to meet fair access criteria, we summarize this change in Table 22 below and present an updated overall concordance rating on clinical criteria for the affected formulary.

Table 22. Changes to Payer Policies After June 1, 2023 That Achieved Concordance with FairAccess Criteria

Formulary	Drug	Policy Change	Concordance with Policy Change Included
Cigna National Preferred	Adbry	Effective October 1, 2023, the Cigna National Preferred formulary no longer defines moderate to severe atopic dermatitis as having an affected body surface area of ≥10%, regardless of involvement of crucial body areas.	Clinical Criteria 18/18 (100%)

5. Input from Patient Groups

To enhance our understanding of real-world patient experience with access to prescription medications, we reached out to 12 disease-specific patient organizations across the eight therapeutic areas represented by the drugs in this year's report. The following groups submitted comments and evidence to describe their community's experience with access challenges:

- Allergy & Asthma Network (AAN)
- Cancer Support Community (CSC)
- Hypertrophic Cardiomyopathy Association (HCMA)
- National Eczema Association (NEA)

The above groups have documented through surveys and patient stories the substantial financial and health impacts of not having appropriate and timely access to care. These challenges are described below to serve as a reminder of the realities faced by people across our health system, but it is important to note that these examples are not necessarily the result of any payer policies evaluated in this report.

From the asthma community, we heard that out-of-pocket (OOP) costs in the form of co-insurance or co-payments can be as high as \$3,000 per month (as a reference, the Affordable Care Act maximum OOP is \$9,100 for an individual and \$18,200 for a family).¹⁵ This forces some people to choose between paying for their medication or for housing and food, or making car payments, suggesting that this type of cost-sharing is not equitable for the larger patient community. In addition, although the following drugs were not in scope for this year's report, these patient quotes highlight current coverage and cost-sharing challenges with asthma medications:

"Insurance carrier wanted the insurance member (me) to pay for biologic. Could not afford the price." (Xolair)

"I have only been able to obtain samples from my provider. The insurance has denied multiple appeals for me to receive this medication. I have stopped taking it because I cannot pay for it without insurance." (Dupixent)

"It is not covered under my insurance. Nothing similar either is covered. I'm currently using Dupixent in a study and love it but won't be able to use it after August." (Dupixent)

A 2020 analysis of multiple myeloma patients in the U.S. who participated in Cancer Support Community's (CSC's) Cancer Experience Registry showed that nearly half reported they were moderately to very seriously concerned about health insurance or money worries. Four out of 10 patients reported depleting savings or using money from retirement to cover myeloma treatment costs. One out of four patients spent over \$500 in monthly out-of-pocket costs to cover cancer care. $^{\rm 16}$

In a separate CSC analysis of 313 multiple myeloma and 122 chronic lymphocytic leukemia patients, 29% reported depleting their savings, 19% reported borrowing against or using money from a retirement plan, 13% reported liquidating assets, 7% reported collecting unemployment insurance, 4% reported taking an extra job, 4% reported choosing a less effective treatment, 4% reported cashing in a life insurance policy early, and 2% reported having their house foreclosed due to the financial costs of cancer care. Based on the percent reporting "sometimes," "often," or "always" engaging in behaviors related to postponing care, 12% postponed doctor's appointments, 5% postponed follow-up screening or blood work, 6% postponed filling prescriptions, 5% skipped dosages of prescribed drugs, 12% delayed complementary treatment including therapy, and 16% postponed psychological counseling or support.

Age, lower income, OOP costs, time since diagnosis, and advanced stage all had a significant effect on financial burden. Financial burden, in turn, had a significant effect on postponing care. Further, financial burden had both a direct and indirect effect through postponing care on physical quality of life (QOL), and both a direct and indirect effect through postponing care on emotional QOL. This highlights a significant effect of financial burden on postponing care and poorer QOL among myeloma patients. ¹⁷

In the case of hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (HCM), we learned that prior authorization, which may lead to coverage denials or delays, can be especially risky given the possibility of sudden cardiac death or other worsening symptoms and complications. The prescription filling process for Camzyos was also noted to cause substantial confusion due to provider preferences for how to order the medication through a specialty pharmacy. The patient community recommends improved communication between providers and specialty pharmacies to allow for a streamlined and collaborative process.¹⁸

Delays or denials for coverage were also major themes among the atopic dermatitis community. According to a survey of 1,272 adults with atopic dermatitis and their caregivers, 50% (636 patients) experienced a delay or denial of coverage in the past 12 months, and only 68% of these patients were aware they could appeal an insurer's decision to deny coverage.¹⁹ The majority (60%) of delays were due to prior authorization and half (50%) of denials were due to step therapy.¹⁹ The most common wait time for delays was 4-7 days (32%) and the most common timeframe to appeal a coverage denial was 8-14 days (37%).²⁰ When asked about the impact of missing doses due to delay or denial of coverage, the largest proportion of respondents (18%) reported having an atopic dermatitis flare.¹⁹ On a Likert scale of 1 being no impact, and 5 being significant impact, the majority (64%) of respondents reported the life impact of these delays and denials as a 3 or higher. A 2021 study of the financial burden of atopic dermatitis found that OOP expenses included costs related to health care providers and prescriptions (visit deductibles, prescription co-payments, prescriptions not covered by insurance), nonprescription health care products, and complementary approaches to care and care coordination (e.g., specialized cleaning products, transportation, or parking fees).²¹ Respondents (n=869) to this survey had a median annual OOP expense of \$600 to manage their atopic dermatitis, and 41.9% (364 out of 869 patients) had OOP expenses of greater than \$1,000.

In addition to the insights from the patient groups, ICER also looked to external sources of information to better understand the access challenges facing the patient community more broadly. In the 2023 Patient Experience Survey commissioned by Pharmaceutical Research and Manufacturers of America (PhRMA), more than 5,000 Americans weighed in to report on barriers to accessing health care and prescription drugs. Aligned with the comments we heard from all the patient groups, this survey found that 32% of respondents named OOP costs (e.g., copays, deductibles, coinsurance) as a top health care concern.²² Furthermore, 19% of insured Americans reported that their current OOP expenses are more than they could afford in the case of an unexpected medical event and 53% reported that even with health insurance, they cannot anticipate the cost of their health care services.

As these data and the above patient group comments illustrate, many patients face access challenges that do not align with the ethical framework of providing patients with fair access to medicines. These examples are meant to highlight what is difficult to evaluate through our focus on insurance coverage policy documents.

6. Discussion

This assessment set out to evaluate whether coverage policies for drugs evaluated in ICER reviews during the calendar year 2021 were covered by major payers as of June 1, 2023 in concordance with fair access criteria for cost sharing, clinical eligibility criteria, step therapy, and prescriber restrictions. Exploratory analyses were also performed on the degree of transparency of policies regarding clinical coverage criteria, tiering, copay adjustment programs, and continuation of coverage for newly entering plan members. As noted in the introduction, our assessment was not able to evaluate many critical elements of how coverage policies are administered in the real world, including how efficient the prior authorization process is to clinicians and patients at the time of the clinical encounter, and how responsive payers are to requests for medically appropriate exceptions. These limitations are important in framing the results of the assessment, which found a high level of concordance of coverage policies with fair access criteria across large and small formularies of large private payers, the Veterans Health Administration, and state health insurance exchanges.

Despite the high overall level of concordance, non-concordance with cost sharing, clinical eligibility, and step therapy criteria was clustered in a few drugs or condition areas, including treatments for lupus nephritis (Benlysta), atopic dermatitis (Adbry), and myasthenia gravis (Soliris and Vyvgart).

As noted earlier, ten payers did not have Benlysta on the lowest relevant tier, and two payers listed Benlysta as non-formulary despite it being priced at a level that meets traditional cost-effective thresholds. Although Benlysta is more expensive than other first-line options, as noted earlier, we believe that it is more appropriate to steer patients to less-expensive options through step therapy than to use higher cost-sharing levels unless patients who try other options without adequate response can then obtain Benlysta at the lower out-of-pocket level. Drugs with higher cost sharing have been found to be associated with less adherence and higher discontinuation rates.²³ We believe therefore that placement of fairly-priced drugs such as Benlysta on preferred tiers increases adherence and provides incentives for manufacturers to price drugs according to value at launch, thus decreasing costs for both payers and patients.

Drugs for atopic dermatitis and myasthenia gravis were also more likely to have coverage that did not meet fair access criteria. Although 81% of formularies had clinical criteria concordant with fair access for Adbry, a drug for moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis, those formularies lacking concordance often had overly narrow definitions of "moderate-to-severe" disease, with some formularies not allowing coverage for patients unless they have 10% body surface area (BSA) involvement. While it is consistent with clinical trial inclusion criteria to focus on BSA alone to define moderate to severe disease, this approach diverges from consensus guidelines, which include in the definition patients with lower overall BSA involvement but with disease in "critical areas" such as the face or feet that has a disproportionate impact on quality of life.²⁴ In myasthenia gravis, several formularies required patients to step through more than three treatments before accessing Soliris and Vyvgart. Although these drugs are generally reserved for patients who have refractory disease, requirements to step through more than two treatments likely delays care for the sickest patients. Although step therapy is justifiable when used to encourage use of safer, better established treatment options, or the use of equally effective therapies at lower cost, a recent survey of US medical providers suggested that step therapy requirements may alter clinical decisions due to a desire to avoid prior authorization burdens, even in cases where the medication was clinically appropriate.²⁵ To address these concerns, some payers are implementing programs specifically to reduce prior authorization burden. For example, HCSC introduced a tool to streamline and accelerate the prior authorization process by automatically approving requests when certain criteria are met. During the pilot phase HCSC reported automated approvals were granted 66% of the time for specialty pharmacy decisions, with approvals being delivered almost instantaneously. This timing is considerably shorter compared to previous wait times of up to 14 days.²⁶ Plans should be applauded for these efforts, and it is critical they provide transparency into how these programs are structured and administered to show they are having the intended impacts. Similar-sounding programs have been implemented by other payers to speed up prior authorization, although recent news reports about coverage denial algorithms operating with minimal, if any, review by doctors, highlights ongoing concerns regarding how prior authorization criteria are implemented.²⁷

In this year's report, we evaluated both the largest and smallest formularies for each large commercial payer, as determined by the number of covered lives, to examine whether size impacts rates of concordance with fair access criteria. However, given the high concordance rates across all formularies, and between health exchange formularies in different regions of the country we did not find substantial differences in fairness of coverage.

With the exception of our findings on cost sharing criteria, which were limited by the small number of drugs eligible for analysis, the results of this assessment suggest that the vast majority of coverage policies across these formularies are structured – on paper -- to provide fair access for this set of drugs. Insurers are sometimes criticized for interfering with decisions that should be made solely by patients and their clinicians, but all insurers have a responsibility to use evidence to establish prudent limits to coverage, and when structured appropriately and administered well, these policy tools can in many cases be important in protecting patients from the risks of care outside of established evidentiary boundaries. Moreover, it is important to recognize the financial stewardship that is delegated to payers in the US. Spending on health care is anticipated to continue to grow faster than the overall economy, leading to pressure on state and federal budgets as well as on the ability for employers and private payers to maintain affordable health insurance.²⁸ Increased spending on drugs is an important contributor to overall health care spending, lending ethical justification to the efforts by payers to use policies such as step therapy to address drug spending in ways that will not adversely affect patient outcomes.^{29,30} In the main, our results

suggest that the payers in this assessment, in the design of their formularies, are meeting that challenge in a way that conforms with the broad outlines of criteria for fair access.

However, as noted throughout this report, there are important limitations to our analysis which should color any conclusions. Perhaps foremost, we were unable to evaluate many of the aspects of coverage policy implementation, such as the ease of obtaining medical exceptions, that are at the heart of many of the barriers experienced by clinicians and patients to appropriate coverage. It is also possible that the 19 formularies selected for this assessment provide coverage more consistent with fair access criteria than formularies from smaller payers, though our analysis did not show that the smallest formularies offered by large payers presented more barriers to access.

As noted earlier, our analysis may not reflect barriers to access created by implementation burdens on clinicians and patients. Our exploratory analyses last year in the 2022 Fair Access report found that prior authorization forms on a subset of drugs contained at least 22 – and as many as 71 – separate questions that providers were required to answer as part of prior authorization, a substantial administrative burden.³¹ As noted earlier, news has emerged recently alleging that at least one national payer has instituted automated review systems that deny initial prior authorization requests according to algorithms, without direct medical review.²⁷ An analysis of the existing peer-reviewed and professional literature estimated that payers, manufacturers, physicians, and patients together incur approximately \$93.3 billion in costs annually on implementing, contesting, and navigating utilization management. ³² Further, a small but growing number of employers and other plan sponsors are avoiding paying for expensive specialty drugs by excluding them entirely from the plan benefit.³³ These specialty carve-out or "alternative funding programs" are not the responsibility of insurers themselves but are recommended by some health benefit consultants to employers seeking to control their overall health insurance costs. The increasing use of these tactics is another important caveat to interpreting the generally favorable ratings in this year's report – when access to therapies is dictated not by transparent payer and PBM coverage policies, but by opaque specialty carve-out programs, fair access for patients is at risk and impossible to judge from an analysis looking only at insurer coverage policies.

Our exploratory analyses this year focused on transparency of various policies that could be of great importance to individuals considering enrolling in an insurance program. While we were able to find clinical eligibility criteria posted for the majority of drugs, this information was often found exclusively through the clinician portal of the payer website, which most potential enrollees might never think of accessing. Furthermore, policies were less available for continuation of coverage (36-64% of formularies) for a prospective enrollee. To achieve greater transparency, payers should not only post clinical eligibility criteria in the patient-facing areas of their website, but also have clear descriptions of medical exception *and* continuation of coverage policies for all current or potential insurance plan members. Similarly, although information on tiering was available for the subset of drugs studied, payers did not always make it clear whether drugs were subject to copay adjustment programs. These adjustment programs can have a substantial impact on the out-of-pocket payments required of patients, so payers should inform prospective enrollees whether formularies may be part of a benefit design using these programs, and how to find out further information. Positive examples from our assessment included Kaiser Permanente and United Healthcare, both of whom had clear, detailed, and easily accessible descriptions about potential copay adjustments on their respective websites.

7. Conclusion

This is ICER's third annual assessment of how well major insurers' coverage policies for prescription drugs align with a set of fair access standards. Although with each report we have refined our criteria for evaluation and expanded analyses to try to capture the current state of insurance coverage for drugs in the US, the results of our assessment are useful in understanding how well written policies meet fair access criteria, but our results also continue to be a reflection on the limitations of the evidence available to us. Our concordance ratings cannot fully capture patient and clinician lived experiences with aspects of coverage such as the real-world burden of cost-sharing and prior authorization on patients. We must also acknowledge that our judgments about cost-sharing for specialty drugs based on formulary tier placement are unable to capture the complexity of a system that offers multiple ways to combine deductibles, tiering, and cost sharing levels, all of which are ultimately selected by the plan sponsor and not the insurer. Context is critical yet our ability to see through the complexity and opacity of these systems is limited.

However, we believe that these limitations should not take away from some important themes highlighted in this report. Payers should be given credit for generally structuring formularies to support many key elements of fair access. As with our prior Barriers to Fair Access reports, changes in coverage policies noted following the initial assessment show that payers are listening and engaged in continually assessing coverage processes and policies, which can lead to positive change. Our reports continue to demonstrate that greater transparency is needed around not only coverage policies but specialty carve-out programs and out-of-pocket costs, particularly as programs such as copay accumulators become more common. Some payers have taken steps to increase transparency by posting all their policies publicly; others hold coverage policies and tiering in confidence, perhaps to seek advantages against the competition. However, only with greater transparency across the industry will payers be able to demonstrate their commitment to the appropriate application of evidence to insurance coverage. And only with greater transparency will payers' call for fair pricing be heard by the public with the power it deserves.

In closing, this assessment is not meant to produce a definitive evaluation of fair access for pharmaceuticals; however, we hope that it continues to help move all participants in the health system toward greater understanding and dialogue. We wish to note again that underlying this effort is the white paper on Cornerstones for Fair Access that was produced with substantial guidance and input from members of the ICER Policy Leadership Forum. We wish to acknowledge and thank the participants in that effort, and those individuals who gave us continued input as part of our Working Group for this assessment. None of these individuals, or organizations, should be viewed as agreeing with this assessment, and any errors in this paper are solely the responsibility of the authors. To all, however, we give our thanks and our praise for their honesty and willingness to pursue a common goal from different starting points.

References

- 1. Kaiser Family Foundation, Claxton G, Rae M, Young G, McDermott D, Whitmore H, Kerns J, Cifuentes J, Damico A, Strange L. *Employer Health Benefits 2020 Annual Survey*. United States of America October 8 2020.
- Ornstein C. Are Copay Coupons Actually Making Drugs More Expensive? ProPublica. <u>https://www.propublica.org/article/are-copay-coupons-actually-making-drugs-more-expensive</u>. Published 2016. Accessed September 21, 2022.
- 3. Fein A. Copay Accumulator update; Widespread Adoption as Manufacturers and Maximizers Limit Patient Impact. Drug Channels. <u>https://www.drugchannels.net/2018/09/copay-</u> accumulator-update-widespread.html. Published 2018. Accessed September 21, 2022.
- Silverman E. Court strikes down Trump-era rule that allowed health insurers to broadly use copay accumulators. Pharmalot Web site. <u>https://www.statnews.com/pharmalot/2023/10/02/trump-biden-hhs-copay-insurance-accumulator/</u>. Published 2023. Accessed October 16, 2023.
- Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO). KDIGO 2023 Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Management of Lupus Nephritis - Public Review Draft. <u>https://kdigo.org/wpcontent/uploads/2023/03/KDIGO-2023-Lupus-Nephritis-Guideline_Public-Review_9-Mar-2023.pdf</u>. Published 2023. Accessed October 17, 2023.
- 6. Kaiser Permanente. Learn about drug manufacturer coupons. <u>https://healthy.kaiserpermanente.org/northern-california/learn/pharmacy/drug-manufacturer-coupons</u>. Published 2023. Accessed August 2, 2023.
- United Healthcare. UnitedHealthcare Copay Card Solutions: Accumulator Benefit. <u>https://www.uhc.com/content/dam/uhcdotcom/en/Pharmacy/PDFs/Copay-Card-Solutions-Accumulator-Benefit-Flyer.pdf</u>. Published 2021. Accessed August 2, 2023.
- Cambia Health Solutions (Bridgespan Health). Drug Exclusions with Alternatives List Exchange -2023.

https://bridgespan.myprime.com/content/dam/prime/memberportal/WebDocs/Other/Misc/Ca mbia/Commercial/Bridgespan%20Drug%20Exclusions%20with%20Alternatives_EXCHANGE.pdf. Published 2023. Accessed August 7, 2023.

- Florida Blue. Subject: Efgartigimod alfa-fcab (Vyvgart) injection <u>http://mcgs.bcbsfl.com/MCG?activity=openSearchedDocMcg&imgId=7619N5OPI5O668TGM2X</u> Published 2022. Accessed August 7, 2023.
- Florida Blue. Bempedoic Acid Prior Authorization with Quantity Limit Prior Authorization with Quantity Limit Program Summary. <u>https://www.myprime.com/content/dam/prime/memberportal/forms/AuthorForms/BCBSFL/Program_Summaries/FL_Bempedoic_Acid_PAQL_ProgSum.pdf</u>. Published 2022. Accessed August 7, 2023.
- 11. Cambia Health Solutions (Bridgespan Health). Medical Exception Criteria for the Drug Exclusions with Alternatives List. https://regence.myprime.com/content/dam/prime/memberportal/forms/AuthorForms/Cambia

/Program_Summaries/dru513reg.pdf. Published 2023. Accessed August 7, 2023.

12. Aetna Inc. Search Results - Nexletol. <u>https://client.formularynavigator.com/Search.aspx?siteCode=0754888343&targetScreen=3&dru</u> <u>gBrandListBaseKey=nexletol%2Boral%2Btablet%2B180%2Bmg&drugId=209626</u>. Published 2023. Accessed August 7, 2023.

- 13. Aetna Inc. Pharmacy FAQs Medical exceptions. <u>https://www.aetna.com/faqs-health-insurance/pharmacy-faqs.html</u>. Published 2023. Accessed August 7, 2023.
- Pollitz K, Levitt L. Health Insurance Transparency under the Affordable Care Act. Kaiser Family Foundation. <u>https://www.kff.org/health-reform/perspective/health-insurance-transparencyunder-the-affordable-careact/#:~:text=The%20law%20requires%20plans%20to,Periodic%20financial%20disclosures. Published 2012. Updated March 8, 2012. Accessed August 18, 2023.
 </u>
- 15. Department of Health and Human Services. Out-of-pocket maximum/limit. <u>https://www.healthcare.gov/glossary/out-of-pocket-maximum-limit/</u>. Accessed October 16, 2023.
- 16. Cancer Support Community. Patient Insights: 2020 Cancer Experience Registry Report. <u>www.cancersupportcommunity.org/sites/default/files/file/2020-</u> <u>07/CSC Registry Report June 2020.pdf</u>. Published 2020. Accessed October 13, 2023.
- 17. Fortune EE, Miller MF, Kranzler EC, et al. Financial Burden Is Associated with Postponing Care and Decreasing Physical and Emotional Quality of Life Among Patients with Multiple Myeloma and Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *Blood.* 2020;136(Supplement 1):45-45.
- 18. Hypertrophic Cardiomyopathy Association, Partnership to Advance Cardiovascular Health. Putting the Patient First: Learnings from the Real World of HCM Report from Meeting in March 2023. March 3 2023.
- Loiselle A.R. TIJ, Guadalupe M., Butler L., Smith Begolka W. Patient Survey to Identify Atopic Dermatitis Prescription Treatment Access Barriers. <u>https://aad-</u> <u>eposters.s3.amazonaws.com/AM2022/poster/33247/A+Patient+Survey+to+Identify+Atopic+Der</u> <u>matitis+Prescription+Treatment+Access+Barriers.pdf</u>. Published 2022. Accessed August 8, 2023.
- 20. Loiselle A.R., Johnson J.K., Thibau I. J. GM, Butler L., W. SB. Wait times and the impact of insurance coverage delays and denials for atopic dermatitis prescription treatments on patients and caregivers. <u>https://aad-eposters.s3.amazonaws.com/AM2023/poster/41456/Wait+times+and+the+impact+of+insurancee+coverage+delays+and+denials+for+atopic+dermatitis+prescription+treatments+on+patients+and+caregivers.pdf. Published 2023. Accessed August 8, 2023.</u>
- 21. Smith Begolka W, Chovatiya R, Thibau IJ, Silverberg JI. Financial Burden of Atopic Dermatitis Outof-Pocket Health Care Expenses in the United States. *Dermatitis*. 2021;32(1s):S62-s70.
- 22. The Pharmaceutical Research and Manufacturers of America (PhRMA). *Patient Experience Survey: Protecting Lifelines to Access and Innovation.* 2023.
- 23. Ismail WW, Witry MJ, Urmie JM. The association between cost sharing, prior authorization, and specialty drug utilization: A systematic review. *J Manag Care Spec Pharm.* 2023;29(5):449-463.
- 24. Boguniewicz M, Alexis AF, Beck LA, et al. Expert Perspectives on Management of Moderate-to-Severe Atopic Dermatitis: A Multidisciplinary Consensus Addressing Current and Emerging Therapies. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract. 2017;5(6):1519-1531.
- 25. Salzbrenner SG, Lydiatt M, Helding B, et al. Influence of prior authorization requirements on provider clinical decision-making. *Am J Manag Care*. 2023;29(7):331-337.
- 26. Health Care Service Corporation. HCSC Transforms Prior Authorization Process. <u>https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/hcsc-transforms-prior-authorization-process-</u> <u>301876834.html</u>. Published 2023. Updated July 13, 2023. Accessed October 13, 2023.
- Rucker P, Miller M, Armstrong D. How Cigna Saves Millions by Having Its Doctors Reject Claims Without Reading them. Probublica and The Capital Forum. <u>https://www.propublica.org/article/cigna-pxdx-medical-health-insurance-rejection-claims</u>. Published 2023. Accessed August 17, 2023.

- 28. Peter G. Peterson Foundation. Healthcare Costs for Americans Projected to Grow at an Alarmingly High Rate. Peter G. Peterson Foundation, . <u>https://www.pgpf.org/blog/2019/05/healthcare-costs-for-americans-projected-to-grow-at-analarmingly-high-rate</u>. Published 2019. Updated May 1, 2019. Accessed August 22, 2023.
- 29. Sherman MC, Gregory D; Parent, Jason; Katarina Wagner, Anita Prescription Medications Account For One In Four Dollars Spent By A Commercial Health Plan. In. Vol 2023: Health Affairs Blog; 2018.
- 30. Rome BN, Egilman AC, Kesselheim AS. Trends in Prescription Drug Launch Prices, 2008-2021. *Jama*. 2022;327(21):2145-2147.
- 31. Pearson SD SM, Beinfeld M, Herce-Hagiwara B, Herron-Smith S, Lancaster V, Lee M, O'Grady M, Richardson M, Venable Y, Emond SK. *Assessment of Barriers to Fair Access*. January 17, 2023 2022.
- 32. Howell S, Yin PT, Robinson JC. Quantifying The Economic Burden Of Drug Utilization Management On Payers, Manufacturers, Physicians, And Patients. *Health Affairs*. 2021;40(8):1206-1214.
- Silverman E. Drugmakers push back on a clever tactic employers use to avoid paying for specialty medicines. STAT+. <u>https://www.statnews.com/pharmalot/2023/03/22/drugs-</u> <u>employers-jnj-abbvie-charities-foundation-health-insurance-medicine/</u>. Published 2023. Accessed August 18, 2023.